1996

Michael W. Strand and Lois L. Strand, husband and wife; B.I. Associates, Inc., a Utah corporation; M and L Investment, a Partnership; and Overland Oil Field Construction, Inc., a Wyoming corporation v. Leland Martineau and J. Brent Kartchner, individually; and Martineau and Company, a Partnership : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred on the Utah Supreme Court pursuant Article XIII, Section 3 of the Constitution of the State of Utah and pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(i). The Utah Court of Appeals has no original appellate jurisdiction from the District Courts under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2). The Supreme Court has exercised its discretion to transfer this case to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4) and the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this case pursuant to § 78-2a-3(2)(h).

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the trial court violated Plaintiffs' substantive due process rights when it failed to analyze the relevant elements to determine whether to dismiss Plaintiffs' cause of action with prejudice. The appellate court reviews the decision of the trial court as a question of law and gives no deference to the decision of the trial court, reviewing for correctness. State v. Vijil, 784 P.2d 1130 (Utah 1989); Mountain Fuel Supply Co. v. Salt Lake City Corp., 752 P.2d 884, 887 (Utah 1988).

II. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by dismissing Plaintiffs' cause of action for failure to prosecute. A trial court's determination to dismiss for failure to prosecute is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. Hartford Leasing Co. v. State, 888 P.2d 694 (Utah App. 1994). An appellate court will not interfere with the trial court's decision unless the trial court abused its discretion and there is a likelihood that prejudice has occurred. Charlie Brown Construction Co. v. Leisure

Sports, Inc., 740 P.2d 1368 (Utah App. 1987); Department of Social Services v. Romero, 609 P.2d 1323 (Utah 1980).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. Nature of the Case**

Plaintiffs brought this action against Defendants to immediately regain possession of Plaintiffs' accounting records which were inappropriately held by Defendants. Plaintiffs also alleged tortious interference with business relationship, damage to Plaintiffs' ongoing businesses because of the deprivation of the records, accounting malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty, and punitive damages. Defendants' Answer alleged that the records had been returned pursuant to an agreement between counsel and denied the other allegations.

#### **B. Course of Proceedings**

Discovery was undertaken and several attorneys made appearances for both parties. A motion by Plaintiffs to consolidate this action with another pending action common to the parties was denied. Plaintiffs designated their expert and lay witnesses pursuant to the Scheduling Order of May 19, 1993. Defendants failed to designate any witnesses. Plaintiffs filed a motion to amend their complaint, which motion remains outstanding. Trial was set for January 4, 1993, but later stricken by consent of the parties and the judge.

A scheduling conference, held September 27, 1994, was continued without date by the court on the stipulation of the



parties. At this scheduling conference, Roger Sandack, attorney for Defendants, indicated that he would likely withdraw. Judge Rokich determined that it would be inappropriate to enter a scheduling order when counsel for Defendants was changing. Judge Rokich indicated that he would take no further action on the case until substitute counsel was named.

Substitute counsel for Defendants made his appearance on May 31, 1995, and filed a Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice under Rule 41(b) along with his Notice of Appearance. Plaintiffs responded to the Motion to Dismiss and after hearings, memoranda, and objections, Defendants' Motion to Dismiss was granted. Roger Sandack did not withdraw until July 3, 1995.

### **C. Disposition of the Trial Court**

The Trial Court, the Honorable William B. Bohling, District Judge, presiding, granted Defendants' Motion to Dismiss on October 23, 1995, and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on the same date. Notice of Appeal was filed on November 20, 1995 and the Docketing Statement was filed on December 11, 1995.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On June 9, 1993, a scheduling hearing was conducted by the Honorable John A. Rokich. R. 91. At that hearing, Judge Rokich scheduled a pre-trial conference for November 30, 1993, scheduled a five day trial beginning January 4, 1994, and set the deadlines for designating expert and lay witnesses. R. 92. Plaintiffs filed their designation of expert witnesses on August 27, 1993, R. 98-9,

and named their lay witnesses on September 30, 1993. R. 100-03. Defendants filed no list of witnesses.

Between the June 9, 1993 Scheduling Conference and the November 30, 1993 Pre-trial Conference, Plaintiffs undertook discovery, issued subpoenas, and took record depositions. R.105-116. On November 17, 1993, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Amend the Complaint, R. 117, an Amended Complaint, R. 118, and a Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of the Motion to Amend the Complaint. R. 127-128. At the November 30, 1993 Pre-trial Conference, Judge Rokich and counsel for the parties agreed that the trial scheduled for January 4, 1994 should be stricken and continued without date. R. 147.

A scheduling conference was held on September 27, 1994. At that hearing Defendant's attorney, Roger Sandack, informed the court that he would withdraw as counsel for Defendants. Affidavit of Judge Rokich, R. 306-07, Addendum 3. Judge Rokich continued the scheduling conference, without date, so that Mr. Sandack could be replaced without jeopardizing any scheduling established by the court. Id. Based on the disclosures of Mr. Sandack, Judge Rokich determined that it would be inappropriate to enter a scheduling order when Defense counsel was changing. Id. Judge Rokich intended to enter a scheduling order only after Defendant's new counsel had been designated. Id. He also intended to take no further action in relation to this case until substitute counsel for Defendants made an appearance. Id. Judge Rokich retired and his caseload was assumed by Judge Bohling.

On June 2, 1995, Defendant's new counsel, Michael L. Deamer, simultaneously filed his Notice of Entry of Appearance of Counsel, R. 183-84, and Notice to Dismiss with Prejudice Under Rule 41(b). R. 185-86. Roger Sandack withdrew as counsel for Defendants on July 3, 1995. R. 248-9. Judge Bohling heard arguments on the Motion to Dismiss on August 14, 1995, R. 334-41, and October 23, 1995, R. 342-53, and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, R. 317-20, and entered an Order of Dismissal with Prejudice on October 23, 1995. R. 321-23. The Notice of Appeal was filed November 20, 1995. R. 328-29.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Due process is a constitutionally guaranteed protection for all citizens. Procedural due process requires that every individual receive notice and an opportunity for a hearing on all pending issues. Substantive due process requires judges to consider relevant factors in reaching their decisions, thus protecting against arbitrariness and abuses of discretion. The trial court failed to consider the relevant factors in making its decision to dismiss Plaintiffs' cause of action with prejudice, focusing only on the actions of Plaintiffs, rather than on the actions of both parties and the prejudice resulting from a dismissal. The appropriate exercise of discretion requires the disciplined examination of the relevant factors, weighted in conjunction with each other. Having failed to consider the relevant factors, Plaintiffs' substantive due process rights have been violated, and the case should be reversed and remanded to the

trial court.

Westinghouse sets forth five specific considerations that must be reviewed by the court before ruling on a motion to dismiss. These considerations are (1) the conduct of both parties, (2) the opportunity each party has had to move the case forward, (3) what each party did to move the case forward, (4) what difficulty or prejudice was caused to the opposing party, and most importantly, (5) whether injustice may result from the dismissal. The trial court failed to consider these elements before dismissing Plaintiffs cause of action, which constitutes an abuse of discretion.

An additional factor in Westinghouse requires a "justifiable excuse" for the delay. On November 30, 1993, the Defendants requested that the trial be continued, the parties agreed to continuance, and Judge Rokich gave his blessing. At the September 27, 1994 scheduling conference, Defendants informed the court that their counsel would withdraw and they would name substitute counsel. Judge Rokich ruled that no action would be taken on the case until Defendants named their successor attorney. Defendants chose to wait nine months before designating their new counsel. Defendants, therefore, directly caused or consented to delays of over 19 months. The Defendants' actions constitute the justifiable excuse for the actions of Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs adhered to the court's scheduling order by designating its witnesses. Defendants never designated any witnesses. Plaintiffs conducted discovery, held records

depositions, issued subpoenas duces tecum, and filed a Motion to Amend Complaint. Defendants did nothing to move the case forward and now complain of the delay that they themselves created. The totality of the circumstances justify the reversal of the dismissal.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **POINT I**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED PLAINTIFF'S SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS BY NOT ANALYZING EACH ELEMENT OF THE APPLICABLE STANDARD BEFORE DISMISSING PLAINTIFFS' CAUSE OF ACTION WITH PREJUDICE**

Article 1, §11 of the Utah Constitution provides:

All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this state, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.

This provision is commonly referred to as the "open courts provision", which guarantees the citizens of Utah access to the courts of this State and a judicial procedure that is based on fairness and equality. See, Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 717 P.2d 670 (Utah 1995). Judicial interpretation of the open courts provision finds that it embodies substantive due process rights and freedom from arbitrary judicial rulings that deprive individual claimants of the right of access to the courts. See, Lee v. Gaufin, 867 P.2d 572 (Utah 1993) (Justice Zimmerman concurring opinion). While most due process cases concern the procedural due process requirements of notice and an opportunity to be heard,

substantive due process concerns the content of the rules that specify when a right can be lost or impaired. Wells v. Children's Aid Soc., 681 P.2d 199 (Utah 1984). Questions that trigger substantive due process concerns can arise in the context of a hearing where the procedural formalities of notice and opportunity to be heard are observed but the ultimate decision is arbitrary, capricious or fundamentally unfair. See, State v. Parker, 872 P.2d 1041, 1948 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). As this court observed in Parker:

. . . While notice and an opportunity to be heard must be observed in order to meet the requirements of procedural due process, . . . the opportunity to be fairly heard is just one of the requisites of due process. . . . By limiting due process protection to simply notice and a hearing, the dissent construes the concept of due process too narrowly. "The purpose of due process is to prevent fundamental unfairness." . . .

Furthermore, although seldom utilized, "[s]ubstantive due process guarantees that no person shall be deprived of . . . property for arbitrary reasons." [citations omitted]

As recognized in Utah, the open courts provision and the concept of substantive due process embodied therein protects claimants against arbitrary government action whether that action is taken by the legislature or the judiciary. See, Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 717 P.2d at 670, 675 ("Both [section 11 and the due process clause of Article 1, Section 7] act to restrict the powers of both the courts and the legislature.") Arbitrary judicial action may occur when the courts fail to follow their precedent and standards in rendering their decisions. Precedent creates substantive law and the failure of the trial court to consider the factors set forth in the substantive law allows arbitrary and

capricious decisions. To avoid an arbitrary decision, this Court reviews the dismissal of an action for failure to prosecute by the "abuse of discretion" standard.

The abuse of discretion standard focuses on the way courts analyze and render their decisions. The cases that examine the abuse of discretion standard uniformly require that courts analyze the relevant factors before a decision is rendered. In the area of alimony, this Court in Willey v. Willey, 866 P.2d 547, 550 (Utah App. 1993), stated:

. . . [T]hree factors . . . **must** be considered in fixing a reasonable alimony award:

[1] the financial conditions and needs of the [spouse seeking support];

[2] the ability of the [spouse seeking support] to produce a sufficient income for [himself or] herself; and

[3] the ability of the [payor spouse] to provide support.

Jones [v. Jones], 700 P.2d [1072,] 1075 [(Utah 1985)].

**"Failure to consider the Jones factors in fashioning an alimony award constitutes an abuse of discretion."** Bell [v. Bell], 810 P.2d [489,] 492 [(Utah App. 1991)] (citations omitted) Thus, **"the trial court must make sufficiently detailed findings on each factor to enable a reviewing court to ensure that the trial court's discretionary determination was rationally based upon" the three Jones factors. Id.** (citations omitted). **"If sufficient findings are not made, we must reverse** unless the record is clear and uncontroverted such as to allow us to apply the Jones factors as a matter of law on appeal." Id. (Citation omitted) [Emphasis added].

The pertinent factors must be considered by the trial court before a decision can be rendered. Failure to consider the relevant factors as set forth in the appellate opinions is an abuse of

discretion. The trial court's findings must be sufficiently detailed on each factor to ensure that its determination is based upon the analysis of relevant factors. If sufficient findings are not made, the case must be reversed and remanded.

Analyzing the relevant factors before rendering a decision is the protection against arbitrary and capricious decisions and the guarantee of effective review. If a court fails to consider the relevant factors and make detailed findings based on those factors, the appellate court cannot review the trial court's decision and the case must be reversed and remanded. The Utah Supreme Court in Dixie State Bank v. Bracken, 764 P.2d 985, 991 (Utah 1988) stated:

. . . [W]e hold that if reasonable fees are recoverable by contract or statute **and the trial court considers all pertinent factors and determines in the exercise of its sound discretion** that a specific sum is a reasonable fee, it is a mistake of law to award less than that amount. Stated another way, **the trial court has broad discretion in determining what constitutes a reasonable fee, and we will consider that determination against an abuse-of-discretion standard.** However, once the trial court makes that determination in the exercise of its sound discretion, it commits legal error if it awards less than the reasonable fee to which the successful litigant is entitled.

. . . Such an award would constitute an abuse of discretion because the factors mentioned by the trial court in discounting the fee, as outlined by Justice Howe, are without support in the record or are otherwise inappropriate. [Emphasis added].

Regardless of the decision being made, the pertinent factors must be considered for the court to exercise its sound discretion. If the judgment is based upon factors not supported in the record or inappropriately considered, the court has abused its discretion.

In the criminal law, sentencing requires the court to balance



the aggravating and the mitigating circumstances before sentencing a convict. In State v. Nuttall, 861 P.2d 454, 456 (Utah App. 1993), this Court stated:

A sentence will not be overturned on appeal unless the trial court has abused its discretion, **failed to consider all legally relevant factors**, or imposed a sentence that exceeds legally prescribed limits. . . . [T]he supreme court stated that an "abuse of discretion may be manifest if the actions of the judge in sentencing were 'inherently unfair' or if the judge imposed a 'clearly excessive' sentence. [Emphasis added].

Failure of the trial court to consider all legally relevant factors constitutes an abuse of discretion and requires reversal of that court's decision.

In Ute-Cal Land Development Corp. v. Sather, 605 P.2d 1240 (Utah 1980), the Supreme Court stated:

The general rule which this Court follows is the judgment of the trial court will not be reversed unless it is shown the discretion exercised has been abused. In arriving at his conclusion the trial judge considered several factors relevant to the amount and composition of the jury award. The trial court's decision was not arbitrary or capricious and, therefore, this Court will not alter it.

The trial court's decision in Ute-Cal was not arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion because the court considered the relevant factors before making its decision.

In the context of the present case, the Utah Supreme Court has stated that the trial court's discretion in dismissing a pending action must be balanced against the higher priority of affording a claimant an opportunity to be heard and the need to do justice. See, Westinghouse Electric Supply Co. v. Paul Larsen Contractor, Inc., 544 P.2d 876, 879 (Utah 1975). In Westinghouse, the Court

stated that there is more to consider in determining if a dismissal for failure to prosecute is proper than merely the amount of time elapsed since the suit was filed. Id. at 879. Those additional factors include; (1) the conduct of both parties; (2) the opportunity each party has had to move the case forward; (3) what each of the parties has done to move the case forward; (4) what difficulty or prejudice may have been caused to the other side; and (5) most important, whether injustice may result from the dismissal. Id.

The Findings and Conclusions entered by the trial court evidence that the decision to dismiss Plaintiffs' complaint was based exclusively upon the court's determination that the Plaintiffs had not pressed forward with the prosecution of the case. In addition to the trial court's failure to analyze the facts against the Westinghouse factors, the trial court's myopic focus upon the Plaintiffs' actions constitutes a violation of Plaintiffs' substantive due process rights because it failed to even consider the factors necessary to render a decision. Having failed to consider the Westinghouse factors, the trial court's decision is a clear abuse of discretion. The trial court's refusal to consider the actions of the Defendants, including their request and consent to the continuation of the trial and failure to name replacement counsel for nine months, renders its decision contrary to both the Westinghouse directive and any general notion of fundamental fairness.

This case was scheduled for trial on January 4, 1994. R. 91.

At the November 30, 1993 Pretrial Hearing, Defendants sought a continuance because they were unprepared to go forward with the trial. The trial was continued without date. At the September 27, 1994 Scheduling Conference, Defendants' attorney, Roger Sandack represented that he would be replaced by subsequent counsel and therefore, would not be Defendants' trial counsel. But for the actions of Defendants, this case would have been tried before Judge Rokich in January, 1994. The trial court ignored Defendants' conduct and the delay of almost nineteen months it caused. Rather than focus on the factors necessary in deciding a motion to dismiss: the conduct of both parties, the opportunity of each party to move the case forward, the actions taken by each party to move the case forward, and the prejudice to each party, as required by Westinghouse, the trial court focused exclusively upon the actions of Plaintiffs. In so doing, the court breached Plaintiffs' substantive due process rights. The trial court's refusal to consider and weigh the Defendants' contribution to the delay in prosecution of this case constitutes a failure to adequately consider material, relevant factors and causes the trial court's exercise of discretion to be arbitrary and capricious. See, Ute-Cal Land Development Corp. v. Sather, 605 P.2d 1240 (Utah 1980).

As previously stated by the Utah Supreme Court, the clear language of Article 1, §11 and the substantive due process rights embodied therein guarantee access to the courts and a judicial procedure that is based on fairness and equality. Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 717 P.2d 670, 675 (Utah 1985). The factors set

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