1996

Michael W. Strand and Lois L. Strand, et al. v.
Leland Martineau and Martineau and Company, et
al. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

of any claim against him. . . . Unless the court in its order for dismissal other specifies, a dismissal under this subdivision or any dismissal not provided for in this rule, other than a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction or for improper venue or for lack of an indispensable party, operates as an adjudication upon the merits."

The word "may" in the rule and the import of Rule 41 gives the trial court discretion in which to grant the relief prayed for. See generally: Boyle v. National Union Fire Insurance Company, 866 P.2d 595 (Ct. App. 1993). In State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994), the Supreme Court examined the standard of review for abuse of discretion cases. The court in noting that the term "abuse of discretion" has no tight meaning stated:

"The helpful metaphor Professor Rosenberg uses in describing these degrees of discretion is that of a pasture. To the extent that a trial judge's pasture is small because he or she is fenced in closely by the appellate courts and given little room to roam in applying a stated legal principle to facts, the operative standard of review approximates what can be described as "de novo." That is the appellate court closely and regularly redetermines the legal effect of specific facts. But to the extent that the pasture is large, the trial judge has considerable freedom in applying a legal principle to the facts, freedom to make the decisions which appellate judges might not make themselves ab initio but will not reverse - in effect, creating the freedom to be wrong without incurring reversal. Only when the trial judge crosses an existing fence or when the appellate court feels comfortable in more closely defining the law by fencing off a part of the pasture previously available does the trial judge's decision exceed the broad discretion granted.

As can be imagined, the real amount of pasture permitted a trial judge will vary depending on the legal issue, although the terminology we use to describe the operative standard of review does not begin to reflect the many shades of this variance. The best we can do is to recognize that such a spectrum of discretion exists and that the closeness of appellate review of the application

of law to fact actually runs the entire length of the spectrum."
At pages 937-938.

A more extensive discussion of judicial discretion is set forth in Rosenberg, Judicial Discretion of The Trial Court Viewed From Above, 22 Syracuse Law Review 635 (1971); Hofer, Standards of Review - Looking Beyond The Labels, 74 Marquette Law Review 231 (1991).

In Thompson Ditch v. Jackson, 29 U.2d 259, 508 P.2d 528 (1973), the Supreme Court concluded that in order to reverse a district court's dismissal for an abuse of discretion, the record must "plainly show that the court abused their discretion." In Charlie Brown Construction Company v. Leisure Sports Incorporated, 740 P.2d 1368 (Ct. App. Utah 1987) cert. den. 765 P.2d 1277 (Utah 1987), this court held that in the application of the "abuse of discretion" standard:

"Dismissal for failure to prosecute is a decision within the broad discretion of the trial court. This court will not interfere with that decision unless it clearly appears that the court has abused its discretion and that there is a likelihood an injustice has been wrought." At page 1370. (Emphasis added.)

In Maxfield v. Rushton, 779 P.2d 237 (Ct. App. Utah 1989) cert. den. 789 P.2d 33 (Utah 1989), this court also stated:

"Consequently, a lower court's dismissal of a case under Rule 41(b) will not be disturbed on appeal unless it is clear from the record that it has abused its discretion." At page 239. (Emphasis added.)

In Lawrence v. Bamberger Railroad Company, 282 P.2d 335, 3 U.2d 247 (Utah 1955), the Supreme Court in 1955 stated:

"When the court has made findings and entered judgment thereon as was done here, then it is our duty to review the evidence in the light most favorable to the findings, and they must be allowed to stand if reasonable minds could agree with them. Likewise every reasonable intendment ought to be indulged in favor of the validity and correctness of the judgment under review and it will not be disturbed unless the appellant meets his burden of affirmatively showing error." At page 337.

Martineau submits that the applicable standard of review by this court is that it must appear from the record that the district court clearly abused its broad discretionary powers in dismissing Plaintiffs' action which had pending for over 14 years.

POINT II.

THE RECORD DEMONSTRATES THAT THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFFS' ACTION.

Strands commenced a legal action against Martineau alleging among other things malpractice in the preparation, analysis and presentation of financial statements based upon records belonging to Strands. See Complaint, paragraphs 3 and 4. Said acts of malpractice allegedly took place from 1975 to 1981. Strands' action was commenced in June of 1981 and has been pending for over 14 years before the Third District Court dismissed said action with prejudice and on its merits for Plaintiffs' failure to prosecute. Although Strands assert various theories for legal recovery, Strands' counsel has characterized the present action as a "malpractice action." R131-133, 164-167, 148-149. The applicable statute of limitations for professional malpractice is set forth in U.C.A. § 78-12-25 as four years. It is interesting to note that at the time the present action was dismissed by Judge Bohling 14 years after it had

been filed, the applicable statute of limitations could have run four to five consecutive times. The purpose behind any statute of limitations is to permit finality to claims and disputes between the parties, to keep evidence fresh and conserve resources. Currier v. Holden, 862 P.2d 1357 (Ct. App. Utah 1993). Statutory limitations are designed to prevent surprises through revival of claims allowed to slumber until evidence is lost, memories have faded, and witnesses have disappeared. Bowen v. New York, 476 U.S. 467, 106 S. Ct. 2022, 90 L.ed 2d 462 (1986); also to suppress stale and fraudulent claims while fresh evidence is available to rebut them. Horton v. Goldminer's Daughter, 785 P.2d 1087, 1091 (Utah 1989). For Strands to argue their substantive due process rights have been violated (Appellants' Brief, beginning at page 7), ignores the fact that Strands themselves have not been diligent in trying the matter. Strands, through their inaction, have waived their own substantive due process rights as will be shown hereafter. It is also interesting to note that if a trial were scheduled at the present time, Appellant Michael Strand would likely not be present as he is currently in a federal penitentiary in Texas. R242.

A. THE BURDEN IS ON PLAINTIFF TO PROSECUTE ITS CIVIL ACTION.

Rule 41(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure makes it clear that a defendant may move to dismiss a civil action for "plaintiff's failure to prosecute." In Charlie Brown Construction v. Leisure Sports Incorporated, *supra*, the court reiterated the general rule in the State of Utah:

"The burden is upon the plaintiff to prosecute a case in due course without unusual or unreasonable delay. Plaintiffs are required 'to prosecute their claims with due diligence or accept the penalty of dismissal.'" At page 370.

In Charlie Brown, plaintiffs abused their opportunity to be heard in court through dilatory conduct. In Meadowfresh Farms v. Utah State University, 813 P.2d 1216, 1218 (Ct. App. Utah 1991), the court again reaffirmed the general rule that the burden is on the plaintiff to prosecute a case in due course without unusual or unreasonable delay. In Meadowfresh, the court recognized that a district court has authority to dismiss an action sua sponte or upon the motion of an affected party. In fact, Rule 4-103 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration requires that if a certificate of readiness for trial has not been served and filed within 180 days of the filing date, and absent a showing of good cause, the court is required to dismiss the case without prejudice for lack of prosecution. Rule 4-103 was originally adopted in 1990 and amended in 1993 and 1994. Since Strands' case has been pending continuously since 1981, the district court could have and should have dismissed Strands' case anytime after the adoption of Rule 4-103 in January of 1990. Furthermore, Strands acknowledge that the burden is on them to move the case forward. R345, lines 15-17.

B. STRANDS' CLAIM OF TRIAL COURT ABUSE OF DISCRETION UNDER WESTINGHOUSE STANDARDS FAILS ON THE FACTS. Strands in their Brief beginning at page 14 claim that the trial court somehow abused its discretion by failing to apply the Westinghouse standards to show "excusable neglect." These standards include: (1) length of time, (2) conduct of both parties, (3) opportunity of each party to move case forward, (4) what each party did to move the case forward and the amount of difficulty or prejudice that may have been caused to the other side, and (5) whether injustice may result from the dismissal.

Westinghouse Electric Supply Company v. Paul W. Larsen Contractor, Inc., 544 P.2d 876 (Utah 1975). We consider each of the elements separately:

(1) Length of Time. The Westinghouse court included "the length of time elapsed to determine the propriety of a dismissal for failure to prosecute" as an element in considering a dismissal for failure to prosecute. Westinghouse, at page 879; Meadowfresh Farms, Ibid, at page 1219. The alleged acts of malpractice occurred nearly 20 years ago beginning in 1975. The length of time the present case has been pending in court is over 14 years as of the date Judge Bohling originally dismissed Plaintiffs' complaint. It has now been nearly 15 years considering the time this matter has been on appeal. In Meadowfresh Farms, Ibid, the court concluded:

"Defendants in this case are prejudiced by the passage of time. After ten years, it is reasonable to assume the facts are stale. Many of the potential witnesses may have moved out of state and/or their recollection of the circumstances and events may have dimmed." At page 1220.

Martineau filed an unrefuted affidavit that credible witnesses could not be located and that in his opinion the issues and action was stale as it related to events that occurred nearly 20 years earlier.

(2) Conduct of Both Parties. A review of the court file shows that the original trial date of December 6, 1982 was stricken by Strands' counsel, Daniel Jackson, when he requested a continuance. R40. There were several Order to Show Cause hearings scheduled. The first one appears of record on April 8, 1991 (R71) and was continued for 30 days (R73). The case was ultimately dismissed by the court on

September 21, 1991, but Plaintiffs filed an ex parte motion to set aside the dismissal two (2) years later in May of 1993. The court set aside the 1991 dismissal in 1993. R84. Another Order to Show Cause hearing was scheduled for failure to prosecute on August 17, 1994, which was continued to September 27, 1994. A trial was set for January 4, 1994 but was stricken by counsel and continued without date.⁵ R147.

What is significant from the record is that Martineau, through his attorneys, filed a Motion for an Expedited Trial Date, together with the Motion to Consolidate this action with another pending action. This Motion for Expedited Trial Date was filed nearly nine (9) years ago on November 25, 1987. R66-67. A notice on the hearing for an expedited trial date indicated that the motions would be heard before the Honorable Scott Daniels, District Court Judge, on December 4, 1987. R68-69. The record does not contain any minute entry or order signed by the judge ruling on the motions. Nothing in the record shows that the motions were withdrawn. It is, however, apparent that no trial date was ever scheduled nor was any trial ever held in this matter. The record also shows that during the 14 years the case was pending, Martineau responded to three different sets of Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents. In his Answer filed in 1982, Martineau stated he had turned over the accounting records.⁶ R32-34. In fact, in August of 1993, Martineau "re-

⁵ Martineau's former attorney did not move for or request a continuance but only agreed at the court's suggestion that the matter be continued. Affidavit of Rokich of August 28, 1995. R306-307.

⁶ See Footnote 4, supra.

served" Strands with Martineau's answers to Plaintiffs' Third Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents. In October of 1993, Strands served a Fourth Set of Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents. R107. A reading of said Fourth Set of Interrogatories shows that Strands again are asking for production of the former sets of interrogatories and documents previously produced on several occasions. R206.

The index to the court record in the court file shows that Strands never certified this case for trial at any point in time. That should be weighed with Martineau's Motion for an Expedited Trial in 1987 which was not granted. Martineau's deposition was also taken on August 26, 1982. R30. It is unreasonable and unfair to assume that because Martineau himself did not certify the case for trial or that the various OTSC hearing or trial dates were continued by stipulation of counsel, that Plaintiffs are somehow relieved of their burden to prosecute the case with diligence. Even in combination, the effect of alleged adverse consequences of dismissal and Defendants' inactivity before the Motion to Dismiss for five (5) years, did not prevent the court from properly dismissing an action. Country Meadows Convalescent Center v. Utah Department of Health, 851 P.2d 1212 (Ct. App. Utah 1993). There is nothing in the record that Strands can point to that demonstrates that Martineau obstructed or anyway prevented the matter from being tried. Strands in their Brief argue strenuously regarding the vacation of the January 4, 1994 trial date as justification for their failure to prosecute the case. Whether or not this is true, at best it only offers an explanation

for the last couple of years. What about the preceding 12 years when no action was taken by Strands? The record is clear that Martineau's previous counsel, Roger Sandack, responded and appeared at all hearings and did not withdraw until July of 1995. At all times, Martineau was represented by counsel who appeared and participated in proceedings. Martineau's previous counsel never moved for nor requested a continuance of the January 4, 1994 trial.

(3) The Opportunity of Each Party to Move the Case Forward. In this regard, Strands filed a Fourth Set of Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents in October of 1993. At no time prior to Martineau's Motion to Dismiss for failure to prosecute in May of 1995 did Strands seek to compel discovery by motion or otherwise. In fact, Strands only filed a motion regarding the outstanding discovery nearly 18 months later on June 12, 1995 in an effort to prevent the dismissal motion. R195. Martineau, in his Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Strike Answer at R219, submits that Rule 11 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure has been violated. Rule 11, in relevant part, provides:

" . . . The signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certification by him that he has read the pleading, motion or other paper; that to the best of his knowledge and information and belief after reasonable inquiry, it is well grounded in fact and is warranted by existing law . . . and that it is not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation." (Emphasis added.)

The court should weigh Plaintiffs' dilatory action in pursuing its outstanding discovery request against anything that Martineau's previous counsel may have done in stipulating to a continuance of the last trial setting. See Footnote 5.

Strands filed a Motion to Amend their Complaint in November of 1993 (R117) which Martineau opposed. R142-146. Strands never noticed their Motion for a hearing nor submitted it for a decision. Strands have had Martineau's deposition since August 26, 1982. It cannot be said that the record plainly and clearly shows that the court abused its discretion in weighing this factor against Strands.

(4) What Difficulty or Prejudice may have been Caused to the Other Side?

Clearly the dismissal of the case for failure to prosecute is "finality" subject only to an appeal. This did not greatly prejudiced or disadvantage Strands since their first listed Plaintiff, Michael W. Strand, is in a federal penal institution in Texas and is not available for a trial if one were scheduled right now. Strands have waived their right to claim that they have unfairly suffered difficulty or been prejudiced by limping along for nearly 14 years.

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